
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

August 15, 2023 5:30 pm 
  

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember Phil Boyum  
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations: 
 
A) Presentation of a retirement award to Debra Wiese (Administrative Assistant) who 

retired effective August 1, 2023 after 11 years of service. 
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 08-01-2023 Council Minutes 
b) 08-01-2023Executive Session Minutes 

B) Consideration of a motion to approve the surplus of four (4) 2014 Dodge Chargers in 
the Statesboro Police Department that are past their service life.  
 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION SE 23-06-
01: Encore Capital Management LLC, request a special exception from the R-3 (Medium 
Density Residential) zoning district in order to allow for a real estate property office on 
approximately 4.399 acres of property located at 1301 Fair Road. 
 

7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve APPLICATION V 23-07-01: 
Jarrett Walden requests a variance from Article XVI; Section 1601, in order to allow a 
parking facility without observing the three foot setback requirement for the expansion to 
the Walden Dental Facility located at 703 East Grady Street. 

 
8. Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2023-07: An Ordinance amending 

Appendix A Zoning of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances in order to implement Article 
XXXII creating security requirements for apartment complexes, namely camera systems 
and controlled vehicular access. 
 

9. Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2023-08: An Ordinance amending 
Chapter 18 Businesses of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances in order to implement 
Article XI creating licensing and operational requirements for event spaces. 

 
 
 



 
 

10. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license 
in accordance with The City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a) 
 
     Go Market & Cafe 
     2855 Northside Dr W 
     Statesboro, Ga 30458 
     License Type: Package Sales (Beer & Wine only) 
 

11. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2023-39: A Resolution to impose a six 
month moratorium on processing and consideration of sign variance requests pursuant to 
Article XV of Appendix A of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances.  
  

12. Consideration of a motion to approve a waiver of conflict to allow Jarrard and Davis to 
represent the City in the conveyance of City owned real property owned located at 3100 
Northside Drive West to be conveyed to the Food Bank, Inc.  
 

13. Consideration of a motion to approve the purchase of eight (8) new patrol vehicles for the 
Statesboro Police Department in the amount of $370,000.  
 

14. Consideration of a motion to approve an award of purchase of a 2023 Ford Bronco Sport 
to Woody Folsom Ford in the amount of $36,530.00 for the Statesboro Fire Department. 
Funding is provided from 2013 and 2019 SPLOST funds.  
 

15. Consideration of a motion to approve award of purchase of two (2) 2023 Ford F-150 
trucks to J.C. Lewis Ford in the amount of $67,596.00 for the Public Utilities 
Department. If approved these will be funded out of FY 2013 CIP funds. 
 

16. Consideration of a motion authorizing the Mayor to execute purchase agreements for 
right-of-way acquisition on West Main Street for the West Main Street Sidewalk Project. 
Funding is provided from 2018 TSPLOST. 
 

17. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Southern Civil LLC, in the amount of $ 
1,993,705.00, for upgrades to the Wastewater Treatment Plant Blower Room. To be paid 
for with a combination of Operating and ATC funds approved in the FY2023 CIP 
Budget, item # WTP-24. 
 

18. Other Business from City Council 
 
19.  City Managers Comments 

a) Street renaming – West Grady Street Ext. 
 

20. Public Comments (General) 
 

21. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
 

22. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 

AUGUST 01, 2023 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      9:00 AM 
 

1. Call to Order 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  

 
2. Invocation and Pledge 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr gave the Invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present   
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present    
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Venus Mack Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Absent   
Shari Barr Mayor Pro Tem  Present  

 
Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, Public Information Officer 
Layne Phillips, City Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
3. Recognitions/Public Presentations: 

 
A) Recognition of Statesboro Fire Department personnel for their life-saving actions during 

a house fire on June 2nd 2023. 
Fire Chief Tim Grams recognized and awarded a unit Citation to Captain Rayon Hutchinson, Lieutenant 
Spencer Rowe, Lieutenant Jason Barrs, Fire Apparatus Operator Ben Adams, Fire Apparatus Operator Spencer 
Johnson, Fire Apparatus Operator Ryan Marrow, Fire Apparatus Operator Casey Perkins, Fire Apparatus 
Operator Justin Easton, Firefighter Valiant Lyte, Firefighter Bradley Scott, Firefighter Bradley Sapp, and 
Firefighter Hunter Swinford. Chief Grams also presented the medal of Valor to Spencer Johnson, Ryan 
Marrow and Valiant Lyte. 
  

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 07-18-2023 Council Minutes 
b) 07-18-2023 Executive Session Minutes 

B) Consideration of a motion for approval of surplus and disposition for a Case tractor 
and a Massey Ferguson tractor in the Public Utilities Department.  

 
Councilmember Phil Boyum stated the Council minutes of July 18, 2023 need to be amended to show that item #12 did 
not pass in accordance with the voting section of the City of Statesboro Charter 4-1 (a) as it was a 2-1 vote.  



2 
 

City Attorney Cain Smith stated his reliance comes from section 2-5 (b) of the charter which involves meetings, minutes, 
and proceedings of council. Which states three members of council shall constitute a quorum and shall be authorized to 
conduct business. There is not a definite answer because both sections say, or as otherwise provided.    
 
Councilmember Phil Boyum made a motion to approve the consent agenda with an amendment to the council minutes 
of July 18, 2023 showing that agenda item #12 failed due to the lack a unanimous vote.  
 
The motion failed due to the lack of a second.  
 
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
  NAYS: 
 
 
 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve application for an alcohol license in 
accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance 6-13 (a): 
 

Red Claw 
6581 Northside Drive East #117 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
License Type: Restaurant 
  

A Motion was made to open the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
 
 
 
 

Approved 3-1 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



 

3 
 

A Motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
A Motion was made to approve application for an alcohol license in accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol 
ordinance 6-13 (a): issued to Red Claw, located at 6581 Northside Drive East #117 Statesboro, Ga 30458, License Type: 
Restaurant. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

7. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2023-38: A Resolution reclassifying six 
Lieutenant (Fire) positions to Captain (Fire).  

 
A motion was made to approve Resolution 2023-38: A Resolution reclassifying six Lieutenant (Fire) positions to 
Captain (Fire).    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 



4 
 

 
 

8. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2023-39: A Resolution approving application 
for funding from the U.S. Department of Transportation (US DOT) Rural and Tribal 
Assistance Pilot Program for the Brannen Street Corridor Plan Study. 

 
 
A motion was made to approve Resolution 2023-39: A Resolution approving application for funding from the U.S. 
Department of Transportation (US DOT) Rural and Tribal Assistance Pilot Program for the Brannen Street Corridor 
Plan Study. 
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

9. Consideration of a motion to approve a Development agreement with Downtown Statesboro 
Development Authority to use $55,380 in TAD funds for installation of a signature BORO 
marker within the development commonly known as the Art Park located at the intersections 
of East Main and Railroad Streets within the South Main Tax Allocation District.  

 
 
A motion was made to approve a Development agreement with Downtown Statesboro Development Authority to use 
$55,380 in TAD funds for installation of a signature BORO marker within the development commonly known as the Art 
Park located at the intersections of East Main and Railroad Streets within the South Main Tax Allocation District.    
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 



 

5 
 

10. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Solid Waste Applied Technology (SWAT) 
for the purchase of a New Way Automated Residential Side Arm Refuse Collation Body with 
a Peterbilt 520 CNG cab and chassis per Sourcewell contract in the amount of $449,000.00. 
This item will be purchased with Solid Waste Collection revenue funds.   

 
 
A motion was made to approve a contract to Solid Waste Applied Technology (SWAT) for the purchase of a New Way 
Automated Residential Side Arm Refuse Collation Body with a Peterbilt 520 CNG cab and chassis per Sourcewell 
contract in the amount of $449,000.00. This item will be purchased with Solid Waste Collection revenue funds.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
11. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Yancy CAT in the amount of $158,969.00 

for the purchase of a new Caterpillar 289D3 Skid Steer with attachments for the Streets 
Division in the Public Works & Engineering Department per Sourcewell contract. Funding is 
from 2018 TSPLOST. 

 
A motion was made to approve an award of contract to Yancy CAT in the amount of $158,969.00 for the purchase of a 
new Caterpillar 289D3 Skid Steer with attachments for the Streets Division in the Public Works & Engineering 
Department per Sourcewell contract. Funding is from 2018 TSPLOST. 
   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

12. Other Business from City Council:  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr announced “First Friday” will be a Downtown Pep Rally, held this Friday August 4, 2023 
beginning at 5:30 pm.    
 

13. City Managers Comments 
 
City Manager Charles Penny stated the Downtown live series had its last concert on July 20th he thanked City Council, 
DSDA, SCVB, and Bulloch Solutions who was the signature sponsor for the series. Planning has started for next year’s 
series and includes eight concerts beginning in May. 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 



6 
 

Mr. Penny also brought up the alcohol application for the Elks Lodge located on 335 James Street. He stated that council 
passed a resolution allowing the application to be accepted for consideration even though it is located in a residential 
area. However the application cannot be processed due to a proximity issue. In accordance with the City of Statesboro 
alcohol ordinance the proposed location is too close to a church.  
City Attorney Cain Smith stated the applicant has applied for license type “bar with kitchen” and the way our ordinance 
under 6-5 council can grant proximity waivers for restaurants, pubs, and low-volume establishments. Proximity waivers 
are not available for bars or bars with kitchen. Proximity as it relates to by the drink sales is solely a local function. So, 
in order for this application to move forward a resolution would need to be approved allowing the application to move 
forward allowing for a proximity waiver despite the fact they are not eligible.  
Councilmember Phil Boyum stated the issue we have with bars downtown is we have churches going into commercial 
retail establishments and they’re really not churches as a stand-alone facility.   
City Manager Charles Penny stated staff will look into other options and come back to you with those options, because 
we want to be careful about setting a precedent.  
Councilmember Phil Boyum asked why we are doing all this legwork for a private business. The business should hire 
an attorney to figure out a way to get around our regulations. We should not be trying to accommodate our regulations 
for a single entity.  We can’t write ordinances for everybody that comes and says, this ordinance doesn’t fit my business.  
Mr. Penny stated this came up because this entity has been operational for years and except for a fire they would still be 
able to be operational.   
 

14. Public Comments (General):  
Marshall Webster signed up to speak about his concerns with a contract that was approved in June with Condrey and 
Associates without taking bids from other firms. Mr. Webster voiced his concern with a contract awarded in 2021to 
InSite Planning and Development to administer a housing renewal program stating they were not the lowest bidder on 
the project.   
Yvonne Pryor Executive Director of the inner City Night Shelter in Savannah spoke about a Federal Grant opportunity 
for Inner City to apply for. The grant would be used for acquisition of property and to construct a non-congregate shelter 
for the homeless in Statesboro. Ms. Pryor stated they are looking at the property of 31 East Olliff Street and would be 
seeking a letter of support from the City of Statesboro.  
 
City Manager Charles Penny stated he would like to have some conversations with the nonprofit organizations operating 
in our community and then report back to Mayor and Council.  
 
 

15. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
and “Real Estate” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b). 

 
At 10:04 am a motion was made to enter into executive session.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 



 

7 
 

At 10:34 am a motion was made to exit executive session. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Mayor McCollar called the regular meeting back to order with no action taken in executive session. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr asked for clarification from Councilmember Phil Boyum regarding his concerns about the 
legality of action taken last month. 
 
Councilmember Phil Boyum reiterated that he looks to the “voting” section of the Charter which states a need for an 
affirmative vote of three members however, somewhere else in the charter there is a contradictory statement. If there is 
a problem with the charter, it’s time to clean it up. 
 

16. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
   
The meeting was adjourned at 10:36 am. 
 
  

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
_______________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 



  

TO:   Charles Penny, City Manager 

FROM:   Mike Broadhead, Chief of Police 

DATE:   August 15, 2023 

RE:   Surplus of Vehicles past Service Life 

POLICY ISSUE:  Surplus Vehicles 

RECOMMENDATION: That Council approve the “surplus” of vehicles that are past their service 
life or are not usable. 

BACKGROUND: The Police Department is requesting that the City Council approve 
removing the following four (4) listed vehicles from the city inventory 
through “surplus” action: 

•  2014 Dodge Charger (VIN: 2C3CDXAT4EH167875) Parts car with all valuable parts 
removed 

• 2014 Dodge Charger (VIN:  2C3CDXATXEH367658) Wrecked and not worth cost of 
repairing 

• 2014 Dodge Charger  (VIN: 2C3CDXAT7EH367648) Requires new motor, not worth 
cost of repairs 

• 2014 Dodge Charger  (VIN: 2C3CDXAT8EH367707) Requires new motor, not worth 
cost of repair 

 

BUDGET IMPACT: These vehicles will be sold through an auction process as per city 
procedure. 

COUNCIL DISTRICT: All 

 ATTACHMENTS: N/A 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator 

 

Date: August 7, 2023 

 

RE: August 15, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Special Exception 

 

Recommendation: Planning Commission recommends the Approval of the 

Special Exception.  

 

Background: Encore Capital Management LLC, request a special exception 

from the R-3 (Medium Density Residential) zoning district in order to allow for a 

real estate property office on approximately 4.399 acres of property located at 

1301 Fair Road. 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Riggs (District 4)  

 

Attachments: Development Services Report SE 23-06-01 

  

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 SE 23-06-01 

SPECIAL EXCEPTION REQUEST 

1301 FAIR ROAD 

LOCATION: 1301 Fair Road  
EXISTING 
ZONING: 

R-3 (Medium-Density Residential) 

ACRES: 4.41 acres 

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

MS62000054B000 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 4 (Riggs) 

EXISTING 
USE: 

Vacant House 

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Business Office (Phase 1)   

PETITIONER                 Encore Capital Management, LLC 

ADDRESS                     1800 Chandler Road; Statesboro GA, 30458 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     Stephen T. Rushing 

ADDRESS                    P.O. Box 327; Statesboro GA, 30458 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant requests a special exception to locate an real estate office building on a 
4.41 acre property zoned R-3 (Medium-Density Residential) at 1301 Fair Road.   

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

SE 23-06-01 CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 23-06-01 

 

 



Page 3 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 23-06-01 

 

  



Page 4 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 23-06-01 

 

 



Page 5 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 23-06-01 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1: Exempt GSU Botanical Garden 

Northeast Location Area #2: R-20 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Home 

East Location Area #3: CR (Commercial Retail) Car Dealership 

Northwest Location Area #4: Exempt GSU Botanical Garden 

Southeast Location Area #5: R-20 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Home 

South Location Area #6: R-4 (High-Density Residential) Apartment Complex 

Southwest Location Area #7:  R-4 (High-Density Residential) Apartment Complex  

West Location Area #8:  R-4 (High-Density Residential) Apartment Complex 



Page 6 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 23-06-01 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site is a mostly undeveloped lot located on 4.41 acres. There is one house 
located on the site. Surrounding properties include primarily single-family homes and 
apartments. In addition, the property is located next to the Georgia Southern Botanical 
Gardens.  

The applicant has expressed the intent to develop a real estate office on the site, and to 
continue the designated use for the remainder of property by developing Medium-Density 
residential properties, specifically duplexes.  

The City of Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan designates the subject 
site as a part of the “Residential Redevelopment”, which is characterized by lower 
density, single-family attached and detached dwellings.  

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard 
area.  

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

The subject property has access to City Sewer and Water.  

CONDITIONAL ZONING STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

The Statesboro Zoning Ordinance permits the grant of conditional zoning upon a finding by 
the governing body that the requested use is “of the same general character” as those uses 
permitted within the district without the grant of a special exception and requires that “in 
determining the compatibility of the conditional use with adjacent properties and the overall 
community, the Mayor and City Council (will) consider the same criteria and guidelines [as 
for] determinations of amendments, as well as the following factors”. 

Article XXIV, Section 2406 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance lists seven (7) factors that 
should be considered by the Mayor and City Council “in determining the compatibility” of 
the requested use with adjacent properties and the overall community for considerations of 
Conditional Use Variances, or Special Exceptions as follows: 

(A) Adequate provision is made by the applicant to reduce any adverse 
environmental impact of the proposed use to an acceptable level.  

 In accordance with state requirements, the project would require submission 
to the Georgia Soil and Water Conservation Commission to ensure erosion 
controls are in place, and the site would be required to meet the City 
Drainage Ordinance.  

(B) Vehicular traffic and pedestrian movement on adjacent streets will not be 
substantially hindered or endangered.  

 The development of the project is meant to be held on the property proper 
and is not likely to generate substantial traffic issues in the area.  

(C) Off-street parking and loading, and the entrances to and exits from such 
parking and loading, will be adequate in terms of location, amount, and design 
to serve the use.  



Page 7 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 23-06-01 

 

 Off street parking will be provided on the site, and will be needed 
separately under the provisions of the Ordinance when the single-family 
attached phase begins on the project.  
 

(D) Public facilities and utilities are capable of adequately serving the proposed 
use.  

 Public utilities are available in the area, and it is unlikely to cause any 
significant changes to the area.  

(E) The proposed use will not have significant adverse effect on the level of 
property values or the general character of the area. 

 No adverse effect is expected on surrounding commercial properties. The 
nature trail next to the property might be affected.  

(F) Unless otherwise noted, the site plan submitted in support of an approved 
conditional use shall be considered part of the approval and must be 
followed.  

 There is a preliminary site plan included in the document.  

(G)  Approval of a proposed use by the Mayor and City Council does not 
constitute [an] approval for future expansion of or additions or changes to 
the initially approved operation. Any future phases or changes that are 
considered significant by the Planning Commission and not included in the 
original approval are subject to the provisions of this section and the review 
of new detailed plans and reports for said alterations by the governing 
authority.  

 Any significant future structural changes to this proposal must first be 
reviewed and approved by Staff. 

Article XVIII, Section 1802 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance further outlines the 
qualifications needed to grant a special exception to the zoning ordinance. These 
include uses that are consistent with the purpose and intent of the zoning 
ordinance and district in which the use is proposed to be located; uses that do not 
detract from neighboring property; and uses that are consistent with other uses in 
the area. In order to meet these qualifications, approval of any special exception for 
the proposed use at the subject parcel should (if necessary) include conditions 
that will ensure that development along this corridor remains consistent with the 
Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance and that 
serve to mitigate negative effects of the use to the surrounding area’s character, 
uses, and zones.  

 The proposed use is not generally consistent with the subject site’s 
character area (“Residential Redevelopment”) but will be in support of a 
consistent use as shown in the 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan.  

  



Page 8 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 23-06-01 

 

 

  



Page 9 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 23-06-01 

 

Subject Property 

 

 

Eastern Property 

 



Page 10 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 23-06-01 

 

 

Northern Property 

 

Southern Property 

 



Page 11 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case SE 23-06-01 

 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval of SE 23-06-01. If this petition is approved by the Mayor and City 
Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following enumerated 
condition(s): 

1. Approval of this special exception does not grant the right to develop on the property 
without adherence to the City Code and approval by the Department of Planning & 
Development.  

2. Development of the main office building must be built in accordance with the provisions 
of the O (Office & Business) zoning district.  

At the special called meeting of the Planning Commission on July 5, 2023, the Commission 
recommended approval of the Special Exception and staff conditions with a 5-0 vote. 

This application was subsequently tabled by the City Council until the August 15, 2023 
meeting.  



CITY OF STATESBORO

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence   Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone: (912) 764-5468  Fax: (912) 764-4691 

www.statesboroga.gov 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

From: Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator 

Date: August 7, 2023 

RE: August 15, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Variance 

Recommendation: Planning Commission recommends the Approval of the 

Variance.  

Background: Jarrett Walden requests a variance from Article XVI; Section 1601, 

in order to allow a parking facility without observing the three foot setback 

requirement for the expansion to the Walden Dental Facility located at 703 East 

Grady Street. 

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person and District: Mack (District 3)  

Attachments: Development Services Report V 23-07-01

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348  (912) 764-0630

Statesboro, Georgia 30458 (912) 764-0664 (Fax)

V 23-07-01 

ZONING VARIANCE REQUEST 

703 EAST GRADY STREET 

LOCATION: 703 East Grady Street 

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

O (Office and Business) 

ACRES: 0.24 acres  

PARCEL 
TAX 

MAP #: 

S19 000092 001 

COUNCIL  
DISTRICT: 

District 3 (Mack) 

EXISTING 
USE: 

Vacant Lot 

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Single-Family Home 

PETITIONER  Jarrett Walden 

ADDRESS      108 Gentilly Road, Statesboro GA 30459 

REPRESENTATIVE  Haydon Rollins  

ADDRESS      1100 Brampton Ave #1; Statesboro GA, 30458 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant requests a variance from the setback requirements of Article XVI; Section 
1601(A) of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance to allow for the construction of a parking 
facility at 703 E Grady Street.  

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

V 23-07-01 CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 



Page 2 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 23-07-01  

 

 



Page 3 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 23-07-01  

 

  



Page 4 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 23-07-01  

 

 



Page 5 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 23-07-01  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1:  R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 

Northeast Location Area #2:  R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 

East Location Area #3:  R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 

Northwest Location Area #4: O (Office and Business) Office Building 

Southeast Location Area #5: R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 

South Location Area #6:  R-15 (Single-Family Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 

Southwest Location Area #7:  O (Office and Business) Office Building 

West Location Area #8:   O (Office and Business) Office Building 



Page 6 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 23-07-01  

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site is a 0.24 acre lot located in a small neighborhood. The applicant intends 
to construct a parking lot at the existing site in order to allow for parking to serve the existing 
dental office. The property is currently a single-family home that will be converted into an 
administrative office for the dental facility next door. The property to the South has already 
converted some of the space to additional parking for the dental facility.    

The City of Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan designates the subject 
site as a part of the “Established Residential Neighborhood” character area, which calls for 
small-lot single family residential and neighborhood services, as well as Neighborhood 
scale retail.     

 

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not in a special flood hazard area. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

This is not an applicable concern as the property is not constructing anything new.  

ZONING VARIANCE STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

The Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides for the award of variances by the City Council 
from the zoning regulations, stating that “approval of a variance must be in the public 
interest, the spirit of the ordinance must be observed, public safety and welfare secured, 
and substantial justice done.” Article XVIII, Section 1801 of the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance states that the Mayor and Council [should] consider if the following are true in 
its consideration of a variance request: 

 

1. There are special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in 
question because of its size, shape, topography, or other physical 
characteristic and that condition is not common to other land or buildings 
in the general vicinity or in the same zoning district; 

 The lot was originally a single-family residence, but historical 
development in the area has seen a number of conversions of the 
housing into small scale businesses. The request will allow specifically 
for parking to be placed without changing the footprint of the building.  

2. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions 
of the applicant; 

 The limited buildable space on the lot will require some additional paving 
in order to provide administrative parking. The original home was built in 
1964.  

3. The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would 
create an unnecessary hardship; and 

 Adherence to the ordinance in this circumstance would make this lot 
difficult to provide the office parking.   

 



Page 7 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 23-07-01  

 

4. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public 
good or impair the purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 

 There would be no substantial detriment to the public. 

 

In analyzing all requests, care should be taken to ensure that development remains 
consistent with the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance and that serve to mitigate negative effects of the use to the surrounding 
area’s character, uses, and zones.  

 The proposed use is consistent with the subject site’s character area 
“Established Residential Neighborhood” as stated in the 2019 – 2029 
Comprehensive Master Plan, and the precedent in the area has been set by 
a number of lots in the area.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  



Page 8 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 23-07-01  

 

Subject Property 

 

Western Property 

 

  



Page 9 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 23-07-01  

 

Southwestern Property 

 

Eastern Property 

 

 

 

 



Page 10 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 23-07-01  

 

Proposed Parking Lot 

 

 

 



Page 11 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 23-07-01  

 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval V 23-07-01. If this petition is approved by the Mayor and City 
Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following enumerated 
condition(s): 

(1) Approval of this variance does not grant the right to begin construction. All construction 
must be reviewed and approved by the City.  

At the regularly scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission on August 1, 2023, the 
Commission recommended approval of the Variance and staff conditions with a 3-0 vote.  



CITY OF STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 

Date: August 8, 2023 

RE: August 15, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 

Policy Issue: First Reading of Ordinance 2023-07 amending Appendix A Zoning 
of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances in order to implement Article XXXII 
creating security requirements for apartment complexes, namely camera 
systems and controlled vehicular access. 

Recommendation: Advance to Second Reading and Consideration 

Background: Mayor and Council voted to advance Ordinance to First Reading 
at the June 20, 2023 work session. Amendment will also be reviewed at the 
August 15, 2023 work session. 

Budget Impact: N/A 

Council Person and District: All 

Attachments: Proposed Ordinance 



Ordinance 2023-07: 

Appendix A Zoning 

ARTICLE XXXII Apartment Security 

Section 3201 Definition and Applicability 

As used herein the following words or phrases shall have the following meaning: 

Apartment Complex means a commonly owned parcel containing more than twenty-five (25) residential 
units available for short and long term rental or lease located within the municipal limits of Statesboro, 
Georgia. 

This Article shall not apply to Apartment Complexes existing as of August 1, 2023. This Article shall apply 
to any newly constructed Apartment Complexes, to Apartment Complexes being renovated or modified 
to the extent that a building permit is required or Apartment Complexes that have changed ownership. 

Section 3202 Regulations 

(a) Camera System Every Apartment Complex shall have video cameras located at all vehicular
entrances and exits to the Apartment Complex. These systems shall be connected with Fusus or any
other data collection system then in use by Statesboro PD. Video footage must be retained and
archived for a minimum of seven days and available for inspection by Statesboro PD in the course of
investigating criminal behavior.

(b) Controlled Access Every Apartment Complex shall have controlled, gated access at all vehicular
entrances and exits.



CITY OF STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 

Date: August 8, 2023 

RE: August 15, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 

Policy Issue: First Reading of Ordinance 2023-08 amending Chapter 18 
Businesses of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances in order to implement Article XI 
creating licensing and operational requirements for event centers. 

Recommendation: Advance to Second Reading and Consideration 

Background: Mayor and Council voted to advance Ordinance to First Reading 
at the June 20, 2023 work session. Amendment will also be presented at the 
August 15, 2023 work session. 

Budget Impact: N/A 

Council Person and District: All 

Attachments: Proposed Ordinance 



Ordinance 2023-08: 

CHAPTER 18 BUSINESSES 

ARTICLE XII EVENT CENTERS 

Section 18-320 Definitions 

As used herein the following words or phrases shall have the following meaning: 

Event means a private party, live musical concert, performing arts presentation or performance and/or 
any other type of entertainment. Meetings held solely for purposes of conducting business shall not be 
considered as Events under this Chapter. 

Event center means a non-residential location hosting private parties, live musical concerts, performing 
arts presentations or performances and/or any other type of entertainment that does not hold a valid 
City alcohol license with a maximum occupancy load exceeding 25 persons. Event centers may host 
private functions with guest list and no ticket being required. Cover charges are expressly prohibited.  

Host means a person or entity renting the Event Center in order to hold an Event 

Section 18-321 Regulations 

(a) No person, firm, partnership, corporation or other entity shall hold or cause to be held an Event
without a valid event center license issued pursuant to this article.

(b) Statesboro Fire and Police Departments may enter any Event in order to assess life safety issues
and compliance with this Article and may terminate Event upon failure to abide by life/safety
regulations.

(c) Host, if applicable, and responsible party representing the Event Center shall be present
throughout all Events in order to ensure the safety and welfare of Event attendees

(d) Alcohol is expressly prohibited unless  a valid special event or catered event permit is obtained
for that time and date,

(e) Statesboro Fire department occupancy requirements shall be in effect throughout all Events.
(f) Private parties may only be held with a written contract that shall be available for inspection

upon request of Statesboro Fire or Police representatives.
(g) Event Center shall have live camera coverage around the exterior perimeter and retain footage

for no less than seven days following end of Event. It is encouraged that these camera systems
be connected with Statesboro PD Fusus or other currently existing real-time intelligence
ecosystem utilized by Statesboro PD.

Section 18-322 Application for License 

Any person desiring to obtain a license to operate, engage in, conduct or carry on any Event Center shall 
make application to the city clerk or her designated representative. Prior to submitting such application, 
a non-refundable fee of $250.00 shall be paid to the city clerk to defray, in part, the cost of regulation 
required by this article. The city clerk shall issue a receipt showing that such regulatory fee has been 
paid. License must be annually renewed. 



Section 18-323 

Probation, suspension, revocation of license; administrative hearing, administrative hearing fee. 

(a)An administrative judge nominated by the city manager and approved by mayor and city council 
pursuant to City Ordinance 6-9 shall have exclusive jurisdiction over any action brought against any 
licensee holding a license issued pursuant to this chapter seeking to revoke, suspend or place the 
licensee on probation. Said action may be brought by the city solicitor, the city manager, or the police 
chief, or their respective designees. 

(b)The administrative judge may suspend, revoke or impose terms and conditions of probation on the 
licensee, or any combination of suspension and terms and conditions of probation for one or more of 
the following reasons: 

1.The violation by the licensee, or licensee's employees or agents of any state or federal law or 
regulation or any provision of this chapter or other ordinance of the city, at any time adopted, relating 
to the sale, use, possession, or distribution of alcoholic beverages. 

2.The violation by the licensee, or licensee's employees or agents of any federal or state law or of any 
local ordinance of the city which is related to building codes, fire codes, smoking, excise tax, property 
tax, health, solid waste disposal, illegal gambling, or controlled substances. 

3.The operation of the licensee's business in such a manner as to constitute a threat to public safety, 
welfare or health or in such a manner as to constitute a nuisance, or the operation of a licensed business 
where violations of federal, state, or local laws or ordinances frequently or regularly occur. 

4.The making of any untrue or misleading statement in the application for a license or any renewal 
thereof or the omission from such application or renewal of any information required in the application. 

5.Permitting any person to engage in any activity on the premises for which the license is issued or 
within the place of business, which is in violation of the laws or regulations of any federal or state law or 
of any local ordinance of the city, which is related to building codes, fire codes, smoking, excise tax, 
property tax, health, solid waste disposal, illegal gambling, alcohol, or other controlled substances. 



Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 

From: Tax Department 

Date: 8/8/2023 

RE: Go Market & Cafe (Package sales: Beer & wine)

Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol 
Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a): 

No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 

Recommendation: Planning & Development, Fire Department, Police Department, and Legal 
recommended approval 

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person & District: Paulette Chavers, District 2

Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 

























Go Market & Cafe
2855 Northside Dr W
Statesboro, Ga 30458

Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name.

Alcohol License Review

Department Full Name Recommendation Comments

Planning &
Development

Jermaine
Foster

Approved 08/08/2023 Zoning is Highway Oriented
Commercial (HOC) This zoning is
permissible

Fire Department Andrew
Cheney

Approved 8/8/2023

Police
Department

Jared
Akins

Approve

Legal Cain Smith Approve



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: August 8, 2023 
 
RE: August 15, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Consideration of resolution to impose a six month moratorium on 
processing and consideration of sign variances requested pursuant to Article XV 
of Appendix A of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances. 
 
Recommendation: Approve 
 
Background: Mayor and Council previously imposed six month moratoriums on 
consideration of variances regarding freestanding signs on November 16, 2021, 
March 1 2022, August 16, 2022, and March 1, 2023 due to City’s ongoing efforts 
to rewrite the sign ordinance. This moratorium would apply to all variances 
regarding all signs and would run until March 1, 2024 or until the City’s new 
signage ordinance is implemented, whichever comes first. 
 
Budget Impact: Unknown 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed resolution 



1 
 

STATE OF GEORGIA 
COUNTY OF BULLOCH 
 

MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STATEBORO GEORGIA 
 

RESOLUTION 2023 – 39 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
STATEBORO GEORGIA TO PUT IN EFFECT A SIX MONTH MORATORIUM 
ON ISSUANCE OF VARIANCES FROM ARTICLE XV OF APPENDIX A  
 

WHEREAS, the number of applications made for variances from Article XV 
regarding Signs has increased substantially since Mayor and Council commissioned TSW 
consultants to conduct a review of the City’s zoning and signage laws; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council deem it in the best interest of the City and its 
residents to continue the review and revision of the zoning and signage regulations during 
this moratorium in order to develop the proper means of protecting the legal rights of 
variance applicants while preserving the integrity of the City's zoning restrictions; and 
 

 WHEREAS, Mayor and Council have legal authority to enhance the review 
process by declaration of a moratorium; and 

 
 WHEREAS, Mayor and Council of the City of Statesboro have the power and 

authority to enact regulations for valid governmental purposes that are not inconsistent 
with general or special law; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the public health, safety and welfare is a legitimate public purpose 

recognized by the courts of the State of Georgia; and 
 
WHEREAS, based upon the above facts, Mayor and Council deem it necessary 

and to be in the best interests of the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens and 
residents of the City, to impose a moratorium on the processing and approval of any new 
applications for variances regarding signs from September 1, 2023 through March 1, 
2024 or until the implementation of the new signage ordinance, whichever comes first. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL 

OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO THAT:  
 

Section 1.The foregoing "WHEREAS" clauses are hereby ratified and confirmed 
as being true and correct and are hereby made a specific part of this Resolution. These 
clauses represent the legislative findings of the Mayor and Council. It is the purpose and 
intent of this Resolution to promote the health, safety and welfare of the residents and 
citizens of the City of Statesboro. 

 
 Section 2. Mayor and Council hereby declare a moratorium which shall run from 



2 
 

September 1, 2022 until March 1, 2023. During such time the City will suspend the 
processing or approval of any applications for variances regarding signs. The moratorium 
may be extended by Mayor and Council by subsequent resolution should additional time 
be needed by the City for the study and presentation of appropriate zoning and signage 
regulations.  
 
 Section 3. If any clause, section, or other part or application of this Resolution 
shall be held by any court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 
unconstitutional or invalid part or application shall be considered as eliminated and so not 
affecting the validity of the remaining portions or applications remaining in full force and 
effect. 
 
 Section 4. All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances, Resolutions or part of 
Resolutions in conflict herewith are to the extent of such conflicts hereby repealed. 
 
 Section 5. This Resolution shall take effect on September 1 2023. 
 
   
 RESOLUTION APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 15st day of August, 2023. 
    
      
 
     By:_______________________________________ 
           Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
 
     Attest:____________________________________ 
                Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
        
 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: August 8, 2023 
 
RE: August 15, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Consideration of waiver of conflict to allow Jarrard and Davis to 
represent the City in the conveyance of City-owned real property located at 
3100 Northside Drive West to be conveyed to The Food Bank, Inc. 
 
Recommendation: Approval 
 
Background: The law firm of Jarrard & Davis represents Bulloch County in Service 
Delivery Strategies matters. This limited waiver of conflict is required for the firm to 
represent the City in this matter. 
 
Budget Impact: N/A 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Waiver of Conflict 



1  

JOINT WAIVER OF CONFLICT 
 

WHEREAS, BULLOCH COUNTY, GEORGIA (“County”), is a political 

subdivision of the State of Georgia; and 

WHEREAS, the County is generally represented by attorney Jeff S. Akins as its County 

Attorney; and 

WHEREAS, the CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA (“City”), is a municipal 

corporation and political subdivision of the State of Georgia; and 

WHEREAS, the City is generally represented by attorney I. Cain Smith as its City 

Attorney; and 

WHEREAS, Jarrard & Davis, LLP (the “Firm”), provides legal representation to 

Georgia local government clients, both as appointed City and County Attorneys as well as 

special outside legal counsel where the Firm may be engaged to handle specialized matters 

including, but not limited to, complex transactions, real estate acquisitions and disposals, 

condemnations, service delivery service (“SDS”), SPLOST negotiations, and litigation, among 

other areas; and 

WHEREAS, the County has previously engaged the Firm as special outside legal 

counsel regarding, among other things, SDS; and   

WHEREAS, City seeks to engage the Firm as special outside legal counsel on certain 

matters, including disposition of certain City-owned real property located on Highway 80 West 

in Statesboro, Georgia (Tax Parcel No. S07 000005 000) (the “Subject Property”); and 

WHEREAS, the disposition of the Subject Property is addressed in certain 

corresponding agreements between the County and the City, namely an “Intergovernmental 



2  

Agreement” and a “Food Bank ARPA Assistance Memorandum of Understanding,” both 

agreements being effective on June 21, 2022 (the “Agreements”); and 

WHEREAS, County and City are generally aligned in interest and are not adversarial 

under the Agreements, but, rather, have entered into the Agreements to jointly contribute 

funding toward the development of the Subject Property proposed to be operated as an area food 

bank; and 

WHEREAS, under the Agreements, the development and subsequent management of 

the Subject Property will be completed by The Food Bank, Inc., a Georgia nonprofit 

corporation; and 

WHEREAS, the Firm’s representation of the City as contemplated herein shall not 

relate to nor conflict with the Firm’s prior or future representation of the County in other 

matters; and 

WHEREAS, the Firm’s representation of the City as contemplated herein shall not 

impair or limit the Firm’s continued or future representation of the County regarding SDS 

negotiations or litigation, even if such representation is adverse to the City; and 

WHEREAS, the Firm shall maintain its duty of confidentiality and loyalty to both the 

City and the County and shall adhere to the requirements of Rule 1.6 and Rule 1.9(c) of the 

Georgia Rules of Professional Conduct and all other applicable rules of professional conduct 

related hereto; and 

WHEREAS, County and City recognize that the Firm’s representation of City regarding 

the Agreements is a waivable conflict of interest; and 

WHEREAS, the governing bodies of the Parties have considered this issue, have been 

informed of the potential for conflicts or competing interests between County and City and risks 

associated with same. 



3  

NOW THEREFORE, in light of the above, the governing bodies of City and County, 

having considered this issue, do hereby resolve as follows: 

1. City and County acknowledge Jarrard & Davis, LLP’s disclosure of these potential 

conflicts. 

2. City and County further acknowledge Jarrard & Davis, LLP’s disclosure of these 

potential conflicts at an open meeting. 

3. City and County have been provided an adequate opportunity to consult with 

independent legal counsel regarding the ramifications of this joint conflict waiver; and all and 

any questions by either government have been addressed to the satisfaction of each. 

4. County affirmatively waives any actual, potential, or apparent conflict of interest 

arising from or attributable to Jarrard & Davis, LLP’s representation of the City in matters 

including the disposition of the Subject Property in accordance with the Agreements when such 

representation is not in conflict with the Firm’s representation of the County in other matters. 

5. City affirmatively waives any actual, potential, or apparent conflict of interest arising 

from or attributable to Jarrard & Davis, LLP’s representation of the County in matters 

including continued or future representation regarding SDS negotiations or litigation. 

 Effective this  _____ day of _______________, 2023, that being the date of the last party 

to sign below. 

BULLOCH COUNTY, GEORGIA,  
by and through its Board of Commissioners 
 
 
By: _________________________________ 
       Roy Thompson, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________________  
Venus Mincey-White, Clerk 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA,  
by and through its City Council 
 
 
By: __________________________________ 
       Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________  
Leah Harden, City Clerk 



  

TO:   Charles Penny, City Manager 

FROM:   Mike Broadhead, Chief of Police 

DATE:   August 15, 2023 

RE:   Patrol Car Purchases 

POLICY ISSUE:  Purchase of Patrol Cars 

RECOMMENDATION: That Council approve the purchase of 8 new patrol cars. 

BACKGROUND: Each year the police department needs to purchase patrol cars to keep the 
fleet healthy.  The PD requests that Council approve the purchase of eight 
(8) new patrol vehicles.  The purpose of this memorandum is to confirm 
the expenditure of no more than $370,000 from 2019 SPLOST.   The cars 
will be purchased following the city’s purchasing policy, and include prices 
obtained from the state bid process. 

BUDGET IMPACT: Police vehicles were approved as part of the 2019 SPLOST expenditures. 

COUNCIL DISTRICT: All  

 ATTACHMENTS: N/A 







 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
 
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 

Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
From:  John Washington, Director – Public Works and Engineering 
 
Date:  August 3, 2023 
 
RE: Recommendation of Approval to Execute Purchase Agreements and Payments 
 
Policy Issue:  West Main Street Sidewalk Project Right-of-Way (ROW) acquisition 
 
Recommendation:  
Consideration of a motion to authorize Mayor to execute agreements for right-of-way acquisition. Staff 
recommends approval of the attached Executed Purchase Agreement and for payment to the party 
identified in agreement. 
 
Background:  
The West Main Street Sidewalk project is proposing to install sidewalk along the street from Ivory to Foss 
Street. Right-of-Way Acquisition is needed to facilitate this work and to allow construction where an 
insufficient width of ROW currently exists for such improvements. The following has a negotiated 
purchase agreement: 
 

West Main St. Sidewalk  
Parcel 7, 316 W. Main St. $500.00 
  

     
 
Budget Impact:   
Right-of-Way and easement acquisition will be funded by 2018 TSPLOST funds. 

Council Person and District: 
District 2, Councilmember Paulette Chavers  
 
Attachment:  
Purchase Agreement 





 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulett Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Jayson Boyles  
       Assistant City Manager 
 
 
From: Steve Hotchkiss 
           Public Utilities Director 
 
 
Date: 8-9-2023 
 
 
RE: Recommendation of Bidder 
 
 
Policy Issue: Purchasing 
 
 
Recommendation: Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Southern 
Civil LLC, in the amount of $ 1,993,705.00, for upgrades to the Wastewater 
Treatment Plant Blower Room. To be paid for with a combination of Operating 
and ATC funds approved in the FY2023 CIP Budget, item # WTP-24.  
 
 
Background: As part of our efforts to modernize and maintain the Waste Water 
Treatment Plant we have strategic plans to upgrade critical areas of the facility.  
We are currently working on upgrades to the large blowers that supply air flow 
to the treatment process. The existing blower units are well past their expected 
life span and need to be replaced before major breakdowns occur. The project 
will also include upgrades to wiring and control systems that service the new 
blowers and an emergency bypass pump. These upgrades will extend the life of 
the WWTP and insure its reliable day to day operations. 
 
 
 
 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulett Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

It is the recommendation of staff and of our consulting engineers, Hussy Gay Bell, 
to award the contract to Southern Civil LLC. In our opinion, Southern Civil LLC 
has the resources and experience to successfully complete the project as bid. 
The bid amount of $ 1,993,705.00 is within the approved budget limit of $2.248, 
680.00. 
    
Budget Impact: CIP Project WTP-24 was approved in the 2023 Budget to be 
funded from Operating Revenue and Aid To Construction Fees. 
 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
 
Attachments: HGB award recommendation letter and bid abstract. 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 



 

 

August 3, 2023 
 
 
Mr. Steve Hotchkiss 
Director of Public Utilities 
City of Statesboro 
P O Box 348 
Statesboro, Georgia 30458 
 
RE: Statesboro Wastewater Treatment Plant Blower Room Upgrades 

City of Statesboro, Georgia  
 
Dear Mr. Hotchkiss, 
 
The following bids were received on August 2, 2023, for the above referenced project: 
 

 
Southern Civil, LLC  $ 1,993,705.00 

 
Ruby-Collins, Inc.  $ 2,791,721.00 

 
J.S. Haren Company  $ 3,357,000.00 

 
 
 
 
Southern Civil, LLC is the apparent low bidder of the three bids received for the above 
referenced project. Enclosed is the Abstract of Bids and Bid Tabulation for your review.  
  
In our opinion, Southern Civil has the resources to successfully complete the project. We 
recommend that a contract in the amount of $ 1,993,705.00 be awarded to Southern Civil for the 
Statesboro Wastewater Treatment Blower Room Upgrades project. 
 
Should you have any questions or need additional information please call me at 912-354-4626. 
 
Sincerely, 
HUSSEY GAY BELL 

 

 
Chris Burke, P.E. 
 



Item 

No.
Description Qty Unit Unit Cost Total Cost Unit Cost Total Cost Unit Cost Total Cost

1
Godwin CD300M Bypass Pump, Bypass Pump Concrete Pad, 
Site Work and Installation

1 LS 250,000.00$ 250,000.00$ 286,600.00$      286,600.00$ 300,000.00$    300,000.00$    

2 Bypass Pump Piping, Valves and Fittings 1 LS 215,000.00$ 215,000.00$ 218,966.00$      218,966.00$ 70,000.00$      70,000.00$      

3
Aerzen GM 90S PD Blowers including Installation, Piping, 
Valves, Fittings and Aeration Basin Modifications 

1 LS 696,405.00$ 696,405.00$ 638,463.00$      638,463.00$ 1,100,000.00$ 1,100,000.00$ 

4
SCADA and Instrumentation 
(Revere Control Systems)

1 LS 212,300.00$ 212,300.00$ 258,749.00$      258,749.00$ 425,000.00$    425,000.00$    

5
Electrical
(Control Panels, Wiring, Labor, etc.)

1 LS 525,000.00$ 525,000.00$ 667,659.00$      667,659.00$ 1,137,000.00$ 1,137,000.00$ 

6

Mobilization, Demobilization, Grading, Grassing Misc. 
Removal and Replacements, Clean-Up, Insurance, Bonds 
and Other Misc. Items not Specifically Listed but Necessary 
for a Complete Job

1 LS 95,000.00$   95,000.00$   721,284.00$      721,284.00$ 325,000.00$    325,000.00$    

I certify that this is a correct Abstract of Bids

received August 2, 2023.

______________________________________________

Chris Burke, P.E.

HUSSEY GAY BELL

Statesboro Wastewater Treatment Plant 

Blower Room Upgrades
J.S. Haren Company

Acknowledged

3,357,000.00$                            1,993,705.00$                      

Acknowledged

Bid Total

Addendum No. 1     

Southern Civil

MFBE Participation 21%100%

Bid Bond SubmittedSubmitted

Ruby-Collins

2,791,721.00$                            

Acknowledged

Submitted

20.40%

Mathematical error on submitted
bid form. $2,791,721.00 is the

correct tabulation of bid based on
unit price of bid items.



 

 

Bid Tabulation 
 

Statesboro Wastewater Treatment Plant 

Blower Room Upgrades 

for the 

City of Statesboro 

 
 
 

Bids Received August 2, 2023 

 
Bidder       Bid Total 

Southern Civil, LLC……………………………… $ 1,993,705.00 

Ruby-Collins, Inc……………...…………………. $ 2,791,721.00 

J.S. Haren Company…………………………….... $ 3,357,000.00 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 


	08-15-2023 Council Agenda
	08-01-2023 Council Minutes
	Council Memo Surplus Cars IV
	Council Memo_&_Packet_CC_AUG_2023
	Apt Security 1st Memo (1)
	Apartment security ordinance (1)
	Event center 1st Memo (1)
	Event center ordinance (1)
	Go Market & Cafe Memo
	Blue Mile Catering Memo 2 (1)

	Go Market & Cafe App_
	Go Market & Cafe Approval
	Sign moratorium memo
	General sign moratorium 08.15.23
	JD Conflict memo
	JD Conflict resolution
	Council Memo (Patrol Cars Aug 23)
	FD.Vehicle Purchase For Council Agenda.08.15.23
	PU.Vehicle Purchase For Council Agenda.08.15.23
	CC Memo-Purchase Agreements_W. Main Sidewalk_draft 8-8-23
	Parcel 7--Executed Purchase Agreement & W-9
	Blower Upgrade  Bid Award 8-9-23
	WWTP Blower Room Upgrade Bid Recommendation



